

**STATE OF WISCONSIN
CHIROPRACTIC EXAMINING BOARD**

**IN THE MATTER OF RULEMAKING :
PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE : REPORT TO THE LEGISLATURE
CHIROPRACTIC EXAMINING : CR 21-065
BOARD :
:**

I. THE PROPOSED RULE:

The proposed rule, including the analysis and text, is attached.

II. REFERENCE TO APPLICABLE FORMS: None.

III. FISCAL ESTIMATE AND EIA: The Fiscal Estimate and EIA is attached.

IV. DETAILED STATEMENT EXPLAINING THE BASIS AND PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSED RULE, INCLUDING HOW THE PROPOSED RULE ADVANCES RELEVANT STATUTORY GOALS OR PURPOSES:

The Chiropractic Examining Board conducted a comprehensive review and updated ch. Chir 5, including 1) the requirements for approval of continuing education programs, 2) circumstances under which online continuing education may be permitted, and 3) the process of reviewing and approving continuing education programs.

The Board also updated ch. Chir 5 to reflect s. 440.035 (2), Stats., as created by 2017 Wisconsin Act 59, which specifies that, except as otherwise permitted in chs. 440 to 480, Stats., an examining board may require a credential holder to submit proof of completion of continuing education programs or courses only if a complaint is made against the credential holder.

V. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC COMMENTS AND THE BOARD'S RESPONSES, EXPLANATION OF MODIFICATIONS TO PROPOSED RULES PROMPTED BY PUBLIC COMMENTS:

The Chiropractic Examining Board held a public hearing on October 28, 2021. The following people either testified at the hearing, or submitted written comments:

Dr. Steven Conway, Esq., Chiropractic Society of Wisconsin Executive Director
Dr. Wade Anunson, Chiropractic Society of Wisconsin President
Wisconsin Chiropractic Association
Dr. Terry Ziegler, Chiropractor Licensee

The Chiropractic Examining Board summarizes the comments received either by hearing testimony or by written submission as follows:

Dr. Steven Conway, Esq. and Dr. Wade Anunson submitted written testimony on behalf of the Chiropractic Society of Wisconsin (CSW). Dr. Anunson read the comments at the hearing. Their testimony included the following points:

- Chir 5.01(1)(a): request for the Board to develop a grace period for licensees that have completed their Continuing Education (CE) hours, but did not properly file with the DSPS by the December 15th renewal deadline
- Chir 5.01(1)(f): Request for CE credit for the cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) course in addition to the automated external defibrillator (AED) credit and that the Board clarify that these certifications can be through an online program
- Chir 5.02(1)(cm): Request that the Board eliminate the “synchronous” format for online CE courses. If the Board chooses to keep the synchronous requirement, to remove the written assessment at the end of the program.
- Chir 5.04(1)(e): Request that Board review the term “postgraduate faculty member” with the chiropractic colleges to ensure it is still an applicable term
- Chir 5.04(2): Request language be included that prohibits board member abuse of the 75-day deadline for education program approvals
- Chir 5.05: The CSW is in opposition to the language in this new section

The Wisconsin Chiropractic Association submitted a written comment during the hearing indicating their support of the proposed rule and urged the Board to finalize the rule as soon as possible so that chiropractors can take online CE in 2022.

Dr. Terry Ziegler submitted written comments prior to the hearing that urged the Board to expedite the discussion on online CE. They also believe that all 40 required hours of annual CE should be allowed to be taken online.

The Chiropractic Examining Board explains modifications to its rule-making proposal prompted by public comments as follows:

- Chir 5.01(1)(f) and (1r)(d): Updated the language to reflect that up to two credits for Chiropractors and one credit for Chiropractic Technicians on becoming proficient in CPR and use of an AED may count for two or one continuing education hours respectively.
- Chir 5.02(1)(cm): Updated the language to reflect that an online education program must be at least 50 percent synchronous and an instrument that is designed to ensure active participation with the material must be used.
- Chir 5.04(2) and (4): Updated the language to reflect that an application for continuing education program approval is considered complete when all information has been received by the Board. If the Board does not take action within 50 days of submission of a completed application, the course shall be approved and remain approved unless the Board takes further action.
- Chir 5.05(1)(b)(1): Language removed after Board discussion.

VI. RESPONSE TO LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS:

All of the recommendations suggested in the Clearinghouse Report have been accepted in whole.

VII. REPORT FROM THE SBRRB AND FINAL REGULATORY FLEXIBILITY ANALYSIS: N/A

STATE OF WISCONSIN
CHIROPRACTIC EXAMINING BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF RULEMAKING	:	PROPOSED ORDER OF THE
PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE	:	CHIROPRACTIC EXAMINING
CHIROPRACTIC EXAMINING	:	BOARD
BOARD	:	ADOPTING RULES
	:	(CLEARINGHOUSE RULE 21-065)

PROPOSED ORDER

An order of the Chiropractic Examining Board to **repeal** Chir 5.02 (1) (b) (title) and (bm) (title), (3), (4), and (6) (Note) and 5.03; to **renumber and amend** Chir 5.02 (1) (a); to **amend** Chir 5.01 (1) (a), (d),(e),(f), (1g) (a), (1r) (a), (2) (b), and (3) and 5.02 (1) (a) (intro.), (b), (bm), (c), (f), and (h) and (2) (a); and to **create** Chir 5.01 (1) (g) and (h), (1g) (c), (1r) (c) and (d), (4), and (5), 5.02 (1) (a) 1. to 4. and (cm), 5.04, and 5.05, relating to continuing education.

Analysis prepared by the Department of Safety and Professional Services.

ANALYSIS

Statutes interpreted:

Sections 440.035 (2) and 446.028, Stats.

Statutory authority:

Sections 15.08 (5) (b), 446.025 (3) (b), and 446.026 (3) (b), Stats.

Explanation of agency authority:

Section 15.08 (5) (b), Stats., provides that examining boards, such as the Chiropractic Examining Board, “[s]hall promulgate rules for its own guidance and for the guidance of the trade or profession to which it pertains . . .”

Section 446.025 (3) (b), Stats., provides “[a] chiropractic radiological technician shall, at the time that he or she applies for renewal of a certificate . . .submit evidence satisfactory to the examining board that he or she has completed at least 12 continuing educational credit hours in programs established by rules promulgated by the examining board.”

Section 446.026 (3) (b), Stats., provides “[a] chiropractic technician shall, at the time that he or she applies for renewal of a certificate . . .submit evidence satisfactory to the examining board that he or she has completed at least 6 continuing educational credit hours in programs established by rules promulgated by the examining board.”

Related statute or rule:

Chapter Chir 3 provides the requirements for license renewal, which include the completion of continuing education.

Plain language analysis:

The Chiropractic Examining Board conducted a comprehensive review of ch. Chir 5, including 1) the requirements for approval of continuing education programs, 2) circumstances under which online continuing education may be permitted, and 3) the current process of reviewing and approving continuing education programs and how that process may be expedited. As a result of this review, the following updates have been made:

- Chiropractors, chiropractic technicians, and chiropractic radiological technicians will be able to acquire a portion of their required continuing education credit hours through participation in online continuing education programs approved by the Board.
- Continuing education hours may be counted for teaching an approved continuing education program. An instructor is eligible for continuing education hours to the same extent as a participant in the program, except continuing education hours may not be counted for subsequent presentations of the same content.
- A provision under s. Chir 5.01 (3) concerning the Board's ability to request verification of attendance at a continuing education program has been revised to reflect s. 440.035 (2), Stats., as created by 2017 Wisconsin Act 59, which specifies that, except as otherwise permitted in chs. 440 to 480, Stats., an examining board may require a credential holder to submit proof of completion of continuing education programs or courses only if a complaint is made against the credential holder.
- The American Chiropractic Association (ACA) has been removed from s. Chir 5.02 (1) (a) as an allowable continuing education program sponsor, as the ACA is not one of the allowable program sponsors enumerated in s. 446.028, Stats.
- An additional requirement has been added in order for a college of chiropractic, medicine, or osteopathy to be considered an approved continuing education program sponsor under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (a). Specifically, the college must have accreditation that is in good standing from an accrediting agency whose recognition by the United States Department of Education is current.
- The requirement under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (b) that program subject matter be generally taught at the undergraduate or postgraduate level of a chiropractic college and relate to improving the clinical skills of a chiropractor is revised. The revised requirement is that program subject matter contributes to the advancement, extension, and enhancement of the clinical skills of a chiropractor and fosters the enhancement of general or specialized practice and values.
- Requirements that specifically pertain to online continuing education programs have been created under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (cm). Specifically, an online continuing education program must require two-way real-time interactive communication between the participant and the instructor, and include a written assessment instrument and means to furnish each participant with evidence of having attended the program.
- Provisions from ss. Chir 5.02 and 5.03 concerning an application for approval of a continuing education program have been removed and consolidated into a new s. Chir 5.04. Section Chir 5.04 as created reduces the lead time required for submission of an application from 75 days to 60 days.

- Section 5.05 is created to provide an expedited approval process for certain program sponsors who successfully complete a compliance review of a random sample of continuing education programs that were approved for the previous 2-year registration period.
- Other provisions throughout ch. Chir 5 have been revised to correct references to the registration period end date, provide clarity, and conform to current drafting standards.

Summary of, and comparison with, existing or proposed federal regulation:

None.

Summary of public comments and feedback on the statement of scope and the Board’s responses:

The Board held a public comment period and conducted a public hearing on April 2, 2020. The Board received testimony concerning the statement of scope from the following individuals:

- Dr. Steven Conway, representing the Chiropractic Society of Wisconsin – Dr. Conway expressed support for the objective of conducting a comprehensive review and update of the current process of reviewing and approving continuing education programs, and opposition to online continuing education for chiropractors.
- Dr. Paul Powers, representing ChiroCredit.com – Dr. Powers expressed strong support for online continuing education for chiropractors.

After consideration of the testimony provided, the Board approved the scope statement for implementation without modification.

Comparison with rules in adjacent states:

Illinois: Rules of the Illinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation regulate continuing medical education (CME) for chiropractic physicians practicing in Illinois [68 Ill. Adm. Code 1285.110]. The rules address CME hours requirements, acceptable CME programs and activities, requirements for CME sponsors and formal CME programs, certification of compliance with CME requirements, CME earned in other jurisdictions, and the waiver of CME requirements.

The Illinois Emergency Management Agency accredits chiropractic radiographers, who are defined as persons other than a licensed practitioner who perform medical radiation procedures and apply x-radiation to the human body for diagnostic evaluation of skeletal anatomy, while under the general supervision of a licensed chiropractor [32 Ill. Adm. Code 401.20]. The rules of the Agency address continuing education requirements for renewal of accreditation as a chiropractic radiographer [32 Ill. Adm. Code 401.140 b)].

Illinois does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic technicians.

Iowa: Rules of the Iowa Board of Chiropractic regulate continuing education (CE) for chiropractors practicing in Iowa [645 IAC 44]. The rules address required CE hours, standards for CE activities, and exemptions from CE requirements.

Iowa does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic radiological technicians or chiropractic technicians.

Michigan: Rules of the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs regulate continuing education (CE) for chiropractors practicing in Michigan [Mich Admin Code, R 338.12037 to R 338.12042]. The rules address required CE hours, acceptable CE programs and activities, and approval of CE programs.

Michigan does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic radiological technicians or chiropractic technicians.

Minnesota: Rules of the Minnesota Board of Chiropractic Examiners regulate continuing education (CE) for chiropractors practicing in Minnesota [Minnesota Rules, parts 2500.1200 to 2500.2000]. The rules address required CE hours, CE program approval and approval criteria, approval of CE sponsors, and the waiver or deferment of CE requirements.

The Minnesota Department of Health registers chiropractic radiologic technologists [Minn. R. 4732.0570 to 4732.0585]. There are no continuing education requirements for maintaining registration.

Minnesota does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic technicians.

Summary of factual data and analytical methodologies:

The rules were developed by reviewing the provisions of ch. Chir 5 to ensure the rules are consistent with current practices and applicable Wisconsin statutes, and that the Board's review and approval of continuing education programs is completed as efficiently as possible.

Analysis and supporting documents used to determine effect on small business or in preparation of economic impact analysis:

The proposed rules were posted for a period of 14 days to solicit public comment on economic impact, including how the proposed rules may affect businesses, local government units, and individuals. No comments were received.

Effect on small business:

These proposed rules do not have an economic impact on small businesses, as defined in s. 227.114 (1), Stats. The Department's Regulatory Review Coordinator may be contacted by email at Daniel.Hereth@wisconsin.gov, or by calling (608) 267-2435.

Agency contact person:

Nilajah Hardin, Administrative Rules Coordinator, Department of Safety and Professional Services, Division of Policy Development, P.O. Box 8366, Madison, Wisconsin 53708-8306; telephone 608-267-7139; email at DSPSAdminRules@wisconsin.gov.

TEXT OF RULE

SECTION 1. Chir 5.01 (1) (a), (d), (e), and (f) are amended to read:

Chir 5.01 (1) (a) Every chiropractor shall complete at least 40 continuing education credit hours in approved continuing education programs during each 2-year license registration period ending on December ~~14~~ 15 of each even-numbered year, except as specified in s. Chir 3.02 (1) (c). Completion of course work and teaching or presenting courses or programs may be counted toward the requirement under this paragraph as provided under pars. (d), (f), and (h).

(d) Course work completed in pursuit of the educational requirements of ch. Chir 12 may be counted on an hour-for-hour basis as continuing education credit hours.

(e) Of the 40 continuing education credit hours in par.(a), a chiropractor holding a nutritional counseling certificate issued under ch. Chir 12 shall complete at least 4 continuing education credit hours in approved continuing education programs relating to nutrition.

(f) ~~One credit~~ Up to two credits of course work completed to become proficient in cardiopulmonary resuscitation certification as required in s. Chir 3.09 and the use of an automated external defibrillator as required in ss. Chir 2.02 (6) (c), 3.02 (1) (e), and 3.03 (1) (i), may be counted as a two continuing education credit ~~hour~~ hours.

SECTION 2. Chir 5.01 (1) (g) and (h) are created to read:

Chir 5.01 (1) (g) No more than 8 of the 40 continuing education credit hours required under par. (a) may be acquired through participation in online continuing education programs approved under s. Chir 5.02.

(h) Continuing education credit hours may be counted for teaching or presenting a course or program whose subject matter contributes to the advancement, extension, and enhancement of the clinical skills of a chiropractor and fosters the enhancement of general or specialized practice. One hour of continuing education credit may be claimed for every 50 minutes of instruction or presentation, except continuing education credit hours may not be counted for subsequent presentations of the same course or program.

SECTION 3. Chir 5.01 (1g) (a) is amended to read:

Chir 5.01 (1g) (a) Every chiropractic radiological technician shall complete at least 12 continuing education credit hours in approved continuing education programs during each 2-year certificate registration period ending on December ~~14~~ 15 of each even-numbered year. A chiropractic radiological technician who receives an initial certificate during a licensing biennium is not required to satisfy the continuing education requirement from the date of that certificate to the end of that licensing biennium.

SECTION 4. Chir 5.01 (1g) (c) is created to read:

Chir 5.01 (1g) (c) No more than 2 of the 12 continuing education credit hours required under par. (a) may be acquired through participation in online continuing education programs approved under s. Chir 5.02.

SECTION 5. Chir 5.01 (1r) (a) is amended to read:

Chir 5.01 (1r) (a) Every chiropractic technician shall complete at least 6 continuing education credit hours in approved continuing education programs during each 2-year certificate registration period ending on December ~~14~~ 15 of each even-numbered year. A chiropractic technician who receives an initial certificate during a licensing biennium is not required to satisfy the continuing education requirement from the date of that certificate to the end of that licensing biennium.

SECTION 6. Chir 5.01 (1r) (c) and (d) are created to read:

Chir 5.01 (1r) (c) No more than 2 of the 6 continuing education credit hours required under par. (a) may be acquired through participation in online continuing education programs approved under s. Chir 5.02.

(d) Up to one credit of course work completed to become proficient in cardiopulmonary resuscitation certification and the use of an automated external defibrillator may be counted as one continuing education credit hour.

SECTION 7. Chir 5.01 (2) (b) and (3) are amended to read:

Chir 5.01 (2) (b) If the chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician has failed to meet the credential renewal requirement during the period, continuing education hours acquired on or after December ~~14~~ 15 of any even-numbered year will apply to the preceding period only if the chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician has failed to meet the credential renewal requirement during that period, and will not apply to any other period or purpose.

(3) To obtain credit for completion of continuing education programs, a chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician shall certify on ~~his or her~~ the application for credential renewal that ~~he or she has completed~~ all continuing education credits have been completed as required ~~in~~ under this section ~~for the previous 2-year credential registration period. A chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician shall retain for a minimum period of 4 years, and shall make available to the board or its agent upon request, certificates of attendance issued by the program sponsor for all continuing education programs for which he or she claims credit for purposes of renewal of his or her credential. Chiropractors, chiropractic radiological technicians, or chiropractic technicians attending a program for credit shall be present in the room where a program is being presented in order to claim credit. A chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician may claim credit hours for continuing education for which he or she was in actual attendance in the room, except for authorized break periods or to attend to personal hygiene needs.~~

SECTION 8. Chir 5.01 (4) and (5) are created to read:

Chir 5.01 (4) A chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician shall retain a certificate or other evidence of attendance issued by the program sponsor for a minimum of 4 years from the date of completion of a continuing education program.

(5) The board may require any chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician who is under investigation by the board for alleged misconduct to submit evidence of compliance with the continuing education requirements under this section.

SECTION 9. Chir 5.02 (1) (intro.) is amended to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (intro.) The board may approve a continuing education program ~~which~~ that meets all of the following ~~minimum~~ requirements:

SECTION 10. Chir 5.02 (1) (a) is renumbered Chir 5.02 (1) (a) (intro.) and amended to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (a) (intro.) The program is sponsored by ~~the Wisconsin chiropractic association, the American chiropractic association, the international chiropractors association, a college of chiropractic approved by the board, or a college of medicine or osteopathy accredited by an agency recognized by the United States department of education.~~ one of the following:

SECTION 11. Chir 5.02 (1) (a) 1. to 4. are created to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (a) 1. The Wisconsin Chiropractic Association.

2. The International Chiropractors Association.

3. A college of chiropractic with accreditation that is in good standing from the Council on Chiropractic Education or another accrediting agency whose recognition by the United States department of education is current.

4. A college of medicine or osteopathy with accreditation that is in good standing from an accrediting agency whose recognition by the United States department of education is current.

SECTION 12. Chir 5.02 (1) (b) (title) is repealed.

SECTION 13. Chir 5.02 (1) (b) is amended to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (b) ~~The~~ For a continuing education program required under s. Chir 5.01 (1) (a), the program subject matter relates contributes to improving the clinical skills of a chiropractor and is generally taught at the undergraduate or postgraduate level of a chiropractic college meeting the requirements of s. Chir 2.02 (6) (b) the advancement, extension, and enhancement of the clinical skills of a chiropractor and fosters the enhancement of general or specialized practice. ~~The board will not approve credit for continuing education regarding a technique or practice which the board has determined to be unsafe or ineffective.~~

SECTION 14. Chir 5.02 (1) (bm) (title) is repealed.

SECTION 15. Chir 5.02 (1) (bm) and (c) are amended to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (bm) ~~The~~ For a continuing education program required under s. Chir 5.01 (1g) (a) or (1r) (a), the program subject matter relates to improving the clinical skills of a chiropractic radiological technician or chiropractic technician, as applicable.

(c) The program sponsor agrees to provide a responsible person to monitor and verify the attendance of each registered chiropractor, ~~chiropractic radiologic~~ radiological technician, or chiropractic technician, as applicable, ~~at participating in the program,~~ and the program sponsor agrees to assume responsibility for the accuracy of the continuing education credit awarded to each participant, to keep the records of attendance for 4 years from the date of the program, and to furnish each participant with evidence of having attended the program.

SECTION 16. Chir 5.02 (1) (cm) is created to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (cm) For an online continuing education program, the program meets all of the following requirements:

1. The program is at least 50 percent synchronous and provides interactive communication between the participant and the instructor.
2. The program includes an instrument that is designed to ensure the chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician, as applicable, actively participated in the presentation of material.
3. The program includes means to furnish each participant with evidence of having attended the program.

SECTION 17. Chir 5.02 (1) (f) and (h), and (2) (a) are amended to read:

Chir 5.02 (1) (f) ~~When~~ If a course instructor of the program is on the undergraduate or postgraduate faculty of a chiropractic college, the program sponsor has provided written verification that the course instructor has been appointed in accordance with the accreditation standards of the ~~council on chiropractic education~~ Council on Chiropractic Education, and that the chiropractic college exercises sufficient supervision over a faculty member's course content.

(h) ~~The~~ A course instructor is qualified to present of the program has qualifications appropriate for presenting the course.

(2) (a) ~~Continuing education programs may include subject material other than that which relates to improving the clinical skills of a chiropractor and is generally taught at the undergraduate or postgraduate level of a chiropractic college, meeting the requirements of s. Chir 2.02 (6) (b) that does not meet the requirements under sub. (1) (b). However, only the parts of the program which relate to improving the clinical skills of a chiropractor and are generally taught at the undergraduate or postgraduate level of a chiropractic college that include subject material that meets the requirements under sub. (1) (b) are eligible for credit.~~

SECTION 18. Chir 5.02 (3), (4), and (6) (Note) are repealed.

SECTION 19. Chir 5.03 is repealed.

SECTION 20. Chir 5.04 and 5.05 are created to read:

Chir 5.04 Application for approval of a continuing education program.

(1) An application for approval of a continuing education program shall be on a form provided by the board and include all of the following:

(a) The name and address of the program sponsor and a description of how the program sponsor qualifies under s. Chir 5.02.

(b) A description of the time and place of the program.

(c) Evidence of the program sponsor's verification showing to the satisfaction of the board that the subject matter meets the requirements under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (b) or (bm), as applicable.

(d) A detailed course outline or syllabus describing the subject matter of the program, and the amount of time devoted to each section of the outline or syllabus.

(e) The names and a description of the qualifications of all instructors including, if applicable, whether an instructor of the program who is an undergraduate or postgraduate faculty member of a sponsoring college was appointed in accordance with accreditation standards of the Council on Chiropractic Education or by an agency approved by the United States department of education.

(f) If the program sponsor intends to assign or delegate any of its responsibilities to another person or entity, all of the following:

1. A specific description of the assignment or delegation.

2. The name and address of the person or entity who is assigned or delegated to perform the responsibility, and a description of the qualifications of that person or entity to perform the responsibility.

3. A description of the method by which the program sponsor intends to assure that the delegated or assigned responsibility is performed.

Note: Application forms are available on the department's website at <http://dps.wi.gov>, or by request from the Department of Safety and Professional Services, P. O. Box 8935, Madison, Wisconsin 53708, or call (608) 266-2112.

(2) An application shall be complete as required under sub. (1) and filed with the board no later than 60 days prior to the program date or, for an online continuing education program, the date on which the program will first be eligible for continuing education credit. An application is considered complete when all information required to be submitted with the application is received by the board.

(3) The board may require an applicant to submit information in addition to that described in sub. (1) that is necessary to determine if the applicant meets the requirements of this chapter.

(4) The board shall grant approval of an application if the board determines the program and program sponsor materially meet the requirements under this chapter. If the board does not take action within 50 days of submission of a completed application, the course shall be approved for the first scheduled date that it is eligible for continuing education credit and shall remain approved unless the board takes further action.

(5) The board shall deny approval of an application for any of the following reasons:

(a) The program or program sponsor does not meet requirements established in this chapter.

(b) The emphasis of the program is on the business, management, or insurance aspects of a chiropractic practice rather than on improving the clinical skills of the chiropractor, chiropractic radiological technician, or chiropractic technician, as applicable.

(c) The board determines the program sponsor has not provided adequate assurance that responsibilities delegated or assigned to others will be satisfactorily performed.

(d) The program sponsor, an instructor, or a person delegated or assigned a responsibility has a financial, personal or professional interest which conflicts directly with the performance of responsibilities in this chapter.

(e) Failure on the part of a program sponsor, an instructor, or a person delegated or assigned a responsibility to carry out a program as represented to and approved by the board or as provided in this chapter.

(f) The program subject matter relates to practice that is prohibited under s. Chir 4.05.

Chir 5.05 Application for expedited approval of a continuing education program. (1) A program sponsor under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (a) may submit an application for expedited approval of a continuing education program if the program sponsor had a minimum of 20 continuing education programs approved for the previous 2-year registration period and one of the following requirements is met:

(a) A review by the board of a random selection of 10 percent of the program sponsor's continuing education programs approved for the previous 2-year registration period found that all of the selected programs materially meet all of the requirements under s. Chir 5.02 (1) and were awarded continuing education credit as provided under s. Chir 5.02 (2) and (5). The review by the board shall occur within the first six months following the 2-year registration period.

(b) A review by the board of a random selection of 10 percent of the program sponsor's continuing education programs approved for the previous 2-year registration period found that one or more of the selected programs do not materially meet all of the requirements under s. Chir 5.02 (1) or did not award continuing education credit as provided under s. Chir 5.02 (2) and (5), and all of the following requirements are met:

1. The application is submitted at least 6 months after the beginning date of the current 2-year registration period.

(2) An application for expedited approval of a continuing education program shall be on a form provided by the board and include all of the following:

(a) The name and address of the program sponsor and a description of how the program sponsor qualifies under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (a).

(b) A description of the time and place of the program.

(c) An attestation by the program sponsor that the program materially meets all of the requirements under s. Chir 5.02 (1) and (6) and will award continuing education credit as provided under s. Chir 5.02 (2) and (5).

(3) An application for expedited approval shall be filed with the board no later than 60 days prior to the program date or, for an online continuing education program, the date on which the program will first be eligible for continuing education credit.

(4) The board shall grant approval of an application that meets the requirements of this section.

SECTION 21. EFFECTIVE DATE. The rules adopted in this order shall take effect on the first day of the month following publication in the Wisconsin Administrative Register, pursuant to s. 227.22 (2) (intro.), Stats.

(END OF TEXT OF RULE)

This Proposed Order of the Chiropractic Examining Board is approved for submission to the Governor and Legislature.

Dated December 22, 2021

Agency



Vice Chairperson
Chiropractic Examining Board

ADMINISTRATIVE RULES Fiscal Estimate & Economic Impact Analysis

1. Type of Estimate and Analysis <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> Original <input type="checkbox"/> Updated <input type="checkbox"/> Corrected	2. Date 08/10/21
3. Administrative Rule Chapter, Title and Number (and Clearinghouse Number if applicable) Chir 5	
4. Subject Continuing Education	
5. Fund Sources Affected <input type="checkbox"/> GPR <input type="checkbox"/> FED <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> PRO <input type="checkbox"/> PRS <input type="checkbox"/> SEG <input type="checkbox"/> SEG-S	6. Chapter 20, Stats. Appropriations Affected 20.165(1)(g)
7. Fiscal Effect of Implementing the Rule <input type="checkbox"/> No Fiscal Effect <input type="checkbox"/> Increase Existing Revenues <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> Increase Costs <input type="checkbox"/> Decrease Costs <input type="checkbox"/> Indeterminate <input type="checkbox"/> Decrease Existing Revenues <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> Could Absorb Within Agency's Budget	
8. The Rule Will Impact the Following (Check All That Apply) <input type="checkbox"/> State's Economy <input type="checkbox"/> Specific Businesses/Sectors <input type="checkbox"/> Local Government Units <input type="checkbox"/> Public Utility Rate Payers <input type="checkbox"/> Small Businesses (if checked, complete Attachment A)	
9. Estimate of Implementation and Compliance to Businesses, Local Governmental Units and Individuals, per s. 227.137(3)(b)(1). \$0	
10. Would Implementation and Compliance Costs Businesses, Local Governmental Units and Individuals Be \$10 Million or more Over Any 2-year Period, per s. 227.137(3)(b)(2)? <input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> No	
11. Policy Problem Addressed by the Rule The Chiropractic Examining Board conducted a comprehensive review of ch. Chir 5, including 1) the requirements for approval of continuing education programs, 2) circumstances under which online continuing education may be permitted, and 3) the current process of reviewing and approving continuing education programs and how that process may be expedited. As a result of this review, the following updates have been made: <ul style="list-style-type: none">• Beginning with the license registration period ending on December 15, 2024, chiropractors, chiropractic technicians, and chiropractic radiological technicians will be able to acquire a portion of their required continuing education credit hours through participation in online continuing education programs approved by the Board.• A provision under s. Chir 5.01 (3) concerning the Board's ability to request verification of attendance at a continuing education program has been revised to reflect s. 440.035 (2), Stats., as created by 2017 Wisconsin Act 59, which specifies that, except as otherwise permitted in chs. 440 to 480, Stats., an examining board may require a credential holder to submit proof of completion of continuing education programs or courses only if a complaint is made against the credential holder.• The American Chiropractic Association (ACA) has been removed from s. Chir 5.02 (1) (a) as an allowable continuing education program sponsor, as the ACA is not one of the allowable program sponsors enumerated in s. 446.028, Stats.• An additional requirement has been added in order for a college of chiropractic, medicine, or osteopathy to be considered an approved continuing education program sponsor under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (a). Specifically, the college must have accreditation that is in good standing from an accrediting agency whose recognition by the United States Department of Education is current.• The requirement under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (b) that program subject matter be generally taught at the undergraduate or postgraduate level of a chiropractic college and relate to improving the clinical skills of a chiropractor is revised. The revised requirement is that program subject matter contributes to the advancement, extension, and enhancement of the clinical skills of a chiropractor and fosters the enhancement of general or specialized practice and values.	

ADMINISTRATIVE RULES Fiscal Estimate & Economic Impact Analysis

- Requirements that specifically pertain to online continuing education programs have been created under s. Chir 5.02 (1) (cm). Specifically, an online continuing education program must require two-way real-time interactive communication between the participant and the instructor, and include a written assessment instrument and means to furnish each participant with evidence of having attended the program.
- Provisions from ss. Chir 5.02 and 5.03 concerning an application for approval of a continuing education program have been removed and consolidated into a new s. Chir 5.04. Section Chir 5.04 as created reduces the lead time required for submission of an application from 75 days to 60 days. It also provides an expedited approval process for program sponsors who successfully complete a compliance review of a random sample of continuing education programs that were approved for the previous 2-year registration period.
- Other provisions throughout ch. Chir 5 have been revised to correct references to the registration period end date, provide clarity, and conform to current drafting standards.

12. Summary of the Businesses, Business Sectors, Associations Representing Business, Local Governmental Units, and Individuals that may be Affected by the Proposed Rule that were Contacted for Comments.

The rule was posted for 14 days on the Department of Safety and Professional Services' website to solicit comments on the potential economic impact. No comments were received.

13. Identify the Local Governmental Units that Participated in the Development of this EIA.

None.

14. Summary of Rule's Economic and Fiscal Impact on Specific Businesses, Business Sectors, Public Utility Rate Payers, Local Governmental Units and the State's Economy as a Whole (Include Implementation and Compliance Costs Expected to be Incurred)

No economic or fiscal impacts are anticipated for specific businesses, sectors, ratepayers, local governments, or the state's economy as a whole. A total of \$763.16 in one time costs and an ongoing fiscal impact of \$1,618.41 are anticipated to be absorbed within the operating budget of the Department of Safety and Professional Services.

15. Benefits of Implementing the Rule and Alternative(s) to Implementing the Rule

The benefit to implementing the rule is consistency with current practices and applicable Wisconsin statutes and increased efficiency of the Board's review and approval of continuing education programs. If the rule is not implemented, the rules will not reflect current practices and applicable Wisconsin statutes.

16. Long Range Implications of Implementing the Rule

The long range implication of implementing the rule is consistency with current practices and applicable Wisconsin statutes and increased efficiency of the Board's review and approval of continuing education programs.

17. Compare With Approaches Being Used by Federal Government

None

18. Compare With Approaches Being Used by Neighboring States (Illinois, Iowa, Michigan and Minnesota)

Illinois: Rules of the Illinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation regulate continuing medical education (CME) for chiropractic physicians practicing in Illinois [68 Ill. Adm. Code 1285.110]. The rules address CME hours requirements, acceptable CME programs and activities, requirements for CME sponsors and formal CME programs, certification of compliance with CME requirements, CME earned in other jurisdictions, and the waiver of CME requirements. The Illinois Emergency Management Agency accredits chiropractic radiographers, who are defined as persons other than a licensed practitioner who perform medical radiation procedures and apply x-radiation to the human body for diagnostic evaluation of skeletal anatomy, while under the general supervision of a licensed chiropractor [32 Ill. Adm. Code 401.20]. The rules of the Agency address continuing education requirements for renewal of accreditation as a chiropractic radiographer [32 Ill. Adm. Code 401.140 b)]. Illinois does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic technicians.

Iowa: Rules of the Iowa Board of Chiropractic regulate continuing education (CE) for chiropractors practicing in Iowa [645 IAC 44]. The rules address required CE hours, standards for CE activities, and exemptions from CE requirements.

ADMINISTRATIVE RULES

Fiscal Estimate & Economic Impact Analysis

Iowa does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic radiological technicians or chiropractic technicians.

Michigan: Rules of the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs regulate continuing education (CE) for chiropractors practicing in Michigan [Mich Admin Code, R 338.12037 to R 338.12042]. The rules address required CE hours, acceptable CE programs and activities, and approval of CE programs. Michigan does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic radiological technicians or chiropractic technicians.

Minnesota: Rules of the Minnesota Board of Chiropractic Examiners regulate continuing education (CE) for chiropractors practicing in Minnesota [Minnesota Rules, parts 2500.1200 to 2500.2000]. The rules address required CE hours, CE program approval and approval criteria, approval of CE sponsors, and the waiver or deferment of CE requirements. The Minnesota Department of Health registers chiropractic radiologic technologists [Minn. R. 4732.0570 to 4732.0585]. There are no continuing education requirements for maintaining registration. Minnesota does not have an equivalent license classification for chiropractic technicians.

19. Contact Name Nilajah Hardin	20. Contact Phone Number (608) 267-7139
------------------------------------	--

This document can be made available in alternate formats to individuals with disabilities upon request.

ADMINISTRATIVE RULES
Fiscal Estimate & Economic Impact Analysis

ATTACHMENT A

1. Summary of Rule's Economic and Fiscal Impact on Small Businesses (Separately for each Small Business Sector, Include Implementation and Compliance Costs Expected to be Incurred)

2. Summary of the data sources used to measure the Rule's impact on Small Businesses

3. Did the agency consider the following methods to reduce the impact of the Rule on Small Businesses?

- Less Stringent Compliance or Reporting Requirements
 - Less Stringent Schedules or Deadlines for Compliance or Reporting
 - Consolidation or Simplification of Reporting Requirements
 - Establishment of performance standards in lieu of Design or Operational Standards
 - Exemption of Small Businesses from some or all requirements
 - Other, describe:
-

4. Describe the methods incorporated into the Rule that will reduce its impact on Small Businesses

5. Describe the Rule's Enforcement Provisions

6. Did the Agency prepare a Cost Benefit Analysis (if Yes, attach to form)

- Yes No
-